

National Imaging Associates, Inc.*	
Clinical guidelines: KNEE ARTHROPLASTY	Original Date: November 2015
CPT Codes** <ul style="list-style-type: none"> - Total Knee Arthroplasty (TKA): 27447 - Partial-Unicompartmental Knee Arthroplasty (UKA): 27438, 27446 - Revision Knee Arthroplasty: 27486, 27487 <p><i>**See UM Matrix for allowable billed groupings and additional covered codes</i></p>	Last Revised Date: May 2021 <u>June 2024</u>
Guideline Number: NIA_CG_315	Implementation Date: January 2023¹

General Requirements

Elective knee arthroplasty may be considered if the following general criteria are met:

- Knee pain with documented loss of function, which may include painful weight bearing, painful or inadequate range of motion to accomplish age-appropriate activities of daily living (ADLs) and/or employment, and painful mechanical catching, locking, or popping
- ~~Individual Patient~~ is medically stable and optimized for surgery with no uncontrolled comorbidities (such as diabetes)
- ~~Individual Patient~~ does not have an active local or systemic infection
- ~~Individual Patient~~ does not have active, untreated drug dependency (including but not limited to narcotics, opioids, muscle relaxants) unless engaged in treatment program
- ~~Individual Patient~~ has good oral hygiene and does not have major dental work scheduled or anticipated (ideally within one year of joint replacement), due to increased post-surgical infection risk
- ~~Efforts have been made to ensure that the patient is optimally informed and prepared for surgery~~

Clinical notes should address:

- Symptom onset, duration, and severity
- Loss of function and/or limitations

* National Imaging Associates, Inc. (NIA) is a subsidiary of Magellan Healthcare, Inc.

- Type and duration of non-operative management modalities
- Discussion with patient regarding decision making and timing

Non-operative management must include at least **TWO** or more of the following unless otherwise specified in clinical indications below:

- Rest or activity modifications/limitations
- Weight reduction for individual patient with elevated BMI
- Protected weight-bearing with cane, walker, or crutches
- Brace/orthosis
- Physical therapy modalities
- Physician-supervised exercise program (including home exercise program)
- Application of heat or ice
- Pharmacologic treatment: oral/topical NSAIDS, acetaminophen, or analgesics
- Intra-articular injection(s)

INDICATIONS

TOTAL KNEE ARTHROPLASTY (TKA)

TKA may be considered medically necessary when the following criteria are met:

- Extensive disease or damage due to rheumatoid arthritis ~~(Lee, 2012)~~,¹ post-traumatic arthritis (i.e., previous proximal tibia or distal femur fracture causing subsequent arthritis), fracture ~~(Softness, 2017)~~,² avascular necrosis³ ~~(Woehni, 2012)~~ confirmed by imaging (radiographs, MRI, or other advanced imaging) or radiographs (X-rays) demonstrate bone-on-bone articulation

AND

- There is persistent pain and documented loss of function with any of the above.

NOTE: There is no medical necessity to perform TKA in individual patients with severe radiological disease and no symptoms-

OR

- When **ALL** of the following criteria are met:
 - Pain due to advanced osteoarthritis (Kellgren-Lawrence (K-L) grade 3 or grade 4 degeneration [see grading appendix]) that is persistent and severe and/or individual patient has documented loss of function that has been present for at least 12 weeks~~3 months~~-resulting in a diminished quality of life⁴ ~~(Hoortje, 2018)~~

- Failure of **at least 12 weeks~~3 months~~** of non-operative treatment, including **at least two** of the following:⁵⁻⁸ ~~(Van Manen, 2012; AAOS, 2012; Felson, 1987; Hochberg, 2012);~~
 - Rest or activity modifications/limitations
 - Weight reduction for ~~individual patient~~ with elevated BMI⁸ ~~(AAOS, 2012)~~
 - Protected weight-bearing with cane, walker, or crutches
 - Brace/orthosis
 - Physical therapy modalities
 - Physician-supervised exercise program (including home exercise program)
 - Application of heat or ice
 - Pharmacologic treatment: oral/topical NSAIDs, acetaminophen, or analgesics⁸ ~~(AAOS, 2012)~~
 - Injections: corticosteroid or viscosupplementation
 - Physical exam findings demonstrate **one or more** of the following: tenderness, swelling/effusion, limited range of motion (decreased from uninvolved side or as compared to a normal joint), flexion contracture, palpable or audible crepitus, instability and/or angular deformity.
 - Radiographic findings show evidence of advanced arthritic changes, described as Kellgren-Lawrence grade 3 or grade 4 degeneration or described as X-rays demonstrating advanced changes such as severe narrowing or bone-on-bone compartment collapse, subchondral sclerosis or cysts, osteophyte formation and/or bony deformity ~~(Hoorntje, 2018; Kellgren, 1957)~~.^{4,9} X-rays described only as showing “severe”, “advanced” or “end-stage” arthritis require more definitive descriptions as stated above. The severity of knee osteoarthritis is commonly determined with weight-bearing radiographs, however, if severe arthritic changes (e.g., bone on bone joint space narrowing) are noted on non-weightbearing images, further weight-bearing radiographs are not required
- NOTE:** MRI should not be the primary radiographic test used to determine the presence or severity of arthritic changes in the joint ~~(Marsh 2013)~~.¹⁰ Likewise, determinations as to the degree of arthritis should not routinely be determined by findings described from prior arthroscopic surgery of the knee.
- No corticosteroid injection into the joint within 12 weeks of surgery¹¹⁻¹⁵ ~~(Bedard, 2017; Cancienne, 2015; Richardson, 2019; Tang, 2021)~~
 - No prior arthroscopic knee surgery within 6 months of surgery¹⁶⁻²⁰

Additional Information

- ~~All requests for TKA or UKA must have documentation in the medical record pertaining to the potential risks, benefits, and complications specific to these procedures.~~ All requests for simultaneous bilateral total knee replacements should clearly indicate why

simultaneous TKA is preferable to staged procedures. Associated risks with simultaneous bilateral total knee replacements should also be discussed with the patient and documented in the medical record

- If medical records indicate that possibly either a TKA or a UKA will be performed, based on the findings at the time of surgery, separate requests are to be submitted

Absolute Contraindication

- Active infection (local or remote). If a local or remote infection is documented in the patient's history, records should clearly demonstrate that the previous infection has been treated and symptoms have resolved or that the individual patient has no clinical signs or symptoms of the previous infection at the time of the operation.
- Any corticosteroid injection into the joint within 12 weeks of surgery¹¹⁻¹⁵ ([Bedard, 2017](#); [Cancienne, 2015](#); [Richardson, 2019](#); [Tang, 2021](#))
- Any prior arthroscopic knee surgery within 6 months of surgery¹⁶⁻²⁰

Relative Contraindication

- Prior infection at site (unless aspiration with cultures and serology [CBC with differential, ESR, CRP] demonstrates no infection). If prior infection at site, tissue biopsies should be sent intra-operatively to exclude latent/dormant infection.
- Documented allergy to any proposed component
- BMI > 40²¹ ([D'Apuzzo, 2014](#)) without attempts at weight loss or discussion of increased risk conferred by BMI
- Severe peripheral vascular disease
- Compromised soft tissue envelope
- Uncontrolled comorbidities²² ([Clement, 2013](#))

UNICOMPARTMENTAL KNEE ARTHROPLASTY (UKA) / PARTIAL KNEE REPLACEMENT (PKA)

Medial or lateral UKA/PKA may be medically necessary when ALL of the following criteria are met:

- At least 12 weeks~~3 months~~ of pain localized to the medial or lateral compartment⁴ ([Hoorntje, 2018](#))
- Failure of at least 12 weeks~~3 months~~ of non-operative treatment, including at least two of the following⁵⁻⁸ ([AAOS, 2012](#); [Felson, 1987](#); [Hochberg, 2012](#); [Van Manen, 2012](#)):
 - Rest or activity modifications/limitations
 - Weight reduction for individual patient with elevated BMI⁸ ([AAOS, 2012](#))
 - Protected weight-bearing with cane, walker, or crutches
 - Brace/orthosis
 - Physical therapy modalities
 - Physician-supervised exercise program (including home exercise program)

- Application of heat or ice
 - Pharmacologic treatment: oral/topical NSAIDs, acetaminophen, or analgesics⁸ ~~(AAOS, 2012)~~
 - Injections: corticosteroid or viscosupplementation
 - Total arc of motion (goniometer) > 90 degrees
 - Normal ACL or stable reconstructed ACL per physical exam test²³ ~~(Tinius, 2012)~~
 - W~~Standing, weight-bearing~~ radiographs demonstrate *only* unicompartamental disease (with or without patellofemoral involvement), described as Kellgren-Lawrence grade 3 or grade 4 degeneration
- NOTE:** MRI should not be the primary radiographic test used to determine the presence or severity of arthritic changes in the joint¹⁰ ~~(Marsh 2013)~~
- Contracture < or equal to 10 degrees upon physical exam (goniometer)²⁴ ~~(Purcell, 2018)~~
 - Angular deformity < or equal to 10 degrees, passively correctable to neutral upon physical exam (goniometer)²⁵ ~~(Becker, 2013)~~
 - No corticosteroid injection into the joint within 12 weeks of surgery¹¹⁻¹⁵ ~~(Bedard, 2017; Cancienne, 2015; Richardson, 2019; Tang, 2021)~~
 - No prior arthroscopic knee surgery within 6 months of surgery¹⁶⁻²⁰

All requests for UKA in ~~individual patients~~ with chronic, *painless* effusion and extensive radiographic arthritis will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis.

Contraindications for Medial or Lateral UKA/PKA

- Any corticosteroid injection into the joint within 12 weeks of surgery¹¹⁻¹⁵ ~~(Bedard, 2017; Cancienne, 2015; Richardson, 2019; Tang, 2021)~~
- Any prior arthroscopic knee surgery within 6 months of surgery¹⁶⁻²⁰
- Local or systemic active infection
- Inflammatory arthritis
- Angular deformity or contracture greater than indicated range
- Significant arthritic involvement of opposite compartment
- ACL instability
- Poor bone quality or significant osteoporosis or osteopenia
- Meniscectomy of the opposite compartment, involving > 25% of meniscus
- Stiffness greater than indicated range of motion

PATELLOFEMORAL UKA/PKA may be medically necessary when **ALL** of the criteria are met within one of the following two subsections:

- Failure of prior patellofemoral unloading procedures (i.e., Maquet or Fulkerson)
- Failure of at least ~~12 weeks~~**3 months** of non-operative treatment, including at least **two** of the following:
 - Rest or activity modifications/limitations
 - Weight reduction for ~~individual~~**patient** with elevated BMI
 - Protected weight-bearing with cane, walker, or crutches
 - Brace/orthosis
 - Physical therapy modalities
 - Physician-supervised exercise program (including home exercise program)
 - Application of heat or ice
 - Pharmacologic treatment: oral/topical NSAIDS, acetaminophen, or analgesics
 - Injections: corticosteroid or viscosupplementation
- Standing, AP or PA weight-bearing x-rays demonstrate only unicompartmental disease of the patellofemoral joint, described as Kellgren-Lawrence grade 3 or grade 4 degeneration (joint space narrowing, osteophyte formation, sclerosis and/or subchondral cystic changes), with no evidence of medial or lateral compartment arthritis.

OR

- At least 6 months of isolated patellar/anterior knee pain
- Patellar/anterior knee pain that is exacerbated by stairs, inclines, transfers or prolonged sitting
- Reproducible patellofemoral pain upon physical exam
- No ligamentous instability upon physical exam
- Failure of **at least** ~~12 weeks~~**3 months** of non-operative treatment, including at least **two** of the following:
 - Rest or activity modifications/limitations
 - Weight reduction for ~~individual~~**patient** with elevated BMI
 - Protected weight-bearing with cane, walker, or crutches
 - Brace/orthosis
 - Physical therapy modalities
 - Physician-supervised exercise program (including home exercise program)
 - Application of heat or ice
 - Pharmacologic treatment: oral/topical NSAIDS, acetaminophen, or analgesics
 - Injections: corticosteroid or viscosupplementation

- Standing, AP, or PA weight-bearing radiographs demonstrate only unicompartmental disease of the patellofemoral joint, described as Kellgren-Lawrence grade 3 or grade 4 degeneration, with no evidence of medial or lateral compartment arthritis.
- No cortisone injection into the joint within 12 weeks of surgery¹¹⁻¹⁵ (Bedard, 2017; Cancienne, 2015; Richardson, 2019; Tang, 2021)

NOTE: MRI should not be the primary radiographic test used to determine the presence or severity of arthritic changes in the joint¹⁰ (Marsh, 2013)

Contraindications for Patellofemoral UKA/PKA:

- Any corticosteroid injection into the joint within 12 weeks of surgery¹¹⁻¹⁵ (Bedard, 2017; Cancienne, 2015; Richardson, 2019; Tang, 2021)
- Local or systemic active infection
- Inflammatory arthritis
- Angular deformity or contracture greater than indicated range
- Significant arthritic involvement of the medial or lateral knee compartment(s)
- Ligament instability
- Poor bone quality or significant osteoporosis or osteopenia
- Stiffness greater than indicated range of motion

REVISION ARTHROPLASTY

Revision TKA may be considered medically necessary when the following criteria are met:

- Previous removal of infected knee prosthesis **AND** no evidence of current, ongoing, or inadequately treated knee infection (ruled out by normal inflammatory markers* (ESR and CRP) or significant improvement in these markers and a clear statement by the treating surgeon that infection has been adequately treated) AND off antibiotics²⁶⁻²⁸ (Della Valle, 2010; Lee, 2015; Ting, 2017).

***NOTE:** If these inflammatory markers are elevated, further evaluation is required, including an aspiration with synovial fluid WBC count, gram stain and cultures, or an intraoperative frozen biopsy²⁶ (Della Valle, 2010);

OR

- When **ALL** of the following criteria are met^{29,30} (Goyal, 2012; Motififard, 2015):
 - Symptomatic UKA/PKA or TKA as evidenced by persistent, severe, disabling pain, complaints of instability, mechanical abnormalities ("clunking" or audible crepitus), any of which result in a loss of function
 - Any of the following findings upon physical exam: tenderness to palpation objectively attributable to the implant, swelling or effusion, pain on weight-bearing or motion, instability on stress-testing, abnormal or limited motion (compared to

usual function), palpable or audible crepitus or “clunking” associated with reproducible pain

- Aseptic loosening, instability, osteolysis, progressive bone loss, or mechanical failure confirmed on radiographic or advanced imaging (bone scan, CT scan, or MRI)
- For implant loosening seen on routine X-rays or advanced imaging, documentation of no evidence of current, ongoing, or inadequately treated knee infection, ruled out by normal inflammatory markers (ESR and CRP)^{27,28,31-33} (~~Lee, 2015; Parvizi, 2010, 2013, 2018; Ting, 2017~~)
- If the revision is for obvious hardware failure only, inflammatory markers are not required
- Cases that do not demonstrate any radiographic abnormalities yet show findings of gross instability on physical examination will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis
- No corticosteroid injection into the joint within 12 weeks of surgery¹¹⁻¹⁵ (~~Bedard, 2017; Cancienne, 2015; Richardson, 2019; Tang, 2021~~)

Additional Information

- Removal of infected knee prosthesis and subsequent insertion of antibiotic spacer is not considered a revision knee arthroplasty.
- All requests for revision TKA are to have documentation in the medical record pertaining to the potential risks, benefits, and complications specific to this procedure.

Absolute Contraindication

- Active infection (local or remote). If a local or remote infection is documented in the patient’s history, records should clearly demonstrate that ~~the~~ previous infection has been treated and symptoms have resolved or that the individual patient has no clinical signs or symptoms of the previous infection at the time of the operation.
- Any corticosteroid injection into the joint within 12 weeks of surgery¹¹⁻¹⁵ (~~Bedard, 2017; Cancienne, 2015; Richardson, 2019; Tang, 2021~~)

Relative Contraindication:

- Unstable or poorly controlled comorbidities
- Severe peripheral vascular disease
- Compromised soft-tissue envelope (revision may be performed in conjunction with plastic surgical consultation for soft tissue coverage via pedicle flaps or other acceptable procedure)

GRADING APPENDIX

Kellgren-Lawrence Grading System:

MRI should not be the primary tool used to determine the presence or severity of arthritic changes in the joint.

Grade	Description
0	No radiographic features of osteoarthritis
1	Possible joint space narrowing and osteophyte formation
2	Definite osteophyte formation with possible joint space narrowing
3	Moderate multiple osteophytes, definite narrowing of joint space, some sclerosis and possible deformity of bone contour (<i>some sclerosis and cyst formation</i>)
4	Large osteophytes, marked narrowing of joint space, severe sclerosis and definite deformity of bone contour.

Other Notes

Manipulation following total knee arthroplasty: SEE KNEE ARTHROSCOPY & OTHER OPEN PROCEDURES Guideline for specific Manipulation indications.

BACKGROUND

KNEE ARTHROPLASTY - Total, Partial & Revision Knee Replacement

This guideline addresses elective, non-emergent knee arthroplasty (knee replacement) procedures, including total knee arthroplasty (TKA), unicompartmental/unicondylar knee arthroplasty (UKA) or hemiarthroplasty (partial knee replacement), and revision arthroplasty procedures.

Arthroplasty describes the surgical replacement and reconstruction of a joint with implanted devices when the joint has been damaged by an arthritic or traumatic process. A normal knee functions as a hinge joint between the femur and the tibia. The surfaces where these bones meet can become worn out over time, due to arthritis or other conditions, which can cause pain and swelling.

TKA replaces and reconstructs all articular joint surfaces. In some cases, only one surface within the knee develops arthritis and associated pain and functional loss. In these cases, a partial knee replacement may be necessary to remove and reconstruct only the damaged region of the knee.

In some cases, the knee prosthesis may wear out or loosen. If loosening is painful, a revision surgery may be necessary. In this procedure some or all of the components of the original replacement prosthesis are removed and replaced with new ones.

Overview

UNICOMPARTMENTAL KNEE ARTHROPLASTY (UKA) / PARTIAL KNEE REPLACEMENT (PKA)

Unicompartmental knee arthroplasty (UKA) is also called partial replacement, hemiarthroplasty, unicondylar knee, or bicondylar knee arthroplasty. This procedure involves reconstruction of either the medial or lateral weight bearing compartment of the knee and/or patellofemoral joint. Medial UKA is performed more frequently than lateral procedures.

REVISION ARTHROPLASTY

Revision describes surgical reconstruction due to failure or complication of a previous arthroplasty.

POLICY HISTORY

Date	Summary
May June 2022	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Added arthroscopic surgery within 6 months of an arthroplasty as a contraindication • Removed the risk/benefit discussion requirement • Clarified language (General Requirements) for medically stable and surgically optimized individuals: • Revised 3-months to 12-weeks throughout • Replaced “patient” with “individual” where appropriate
June 2021	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Revised requirements for revision arthroplasty. Inflammatory markers are not required if revision is for obvious hardware failure. • Added clarification of X-ray requirements: “X-rays described only as showing “severe”, “advanced” or “end-stage” arthritis require more definitive descriptions”
October 2020	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Added: Efforts have been made to ensure that the patient is optimally informed and prepared for surgery • Altered: BMI > 40 (D’Apuzzo, 2014); without attempts at weight loss or discussion of increased risk conferred by BMI • Changed: angular deformity and flexion contracture to less than or equal to 10 degrees • Removed: BMI < 40 (Bonutti, 2011) as contraindication for UKA

	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Changed under UKA contraindication: Meniscectomy of the opposite compartment, involving > 25% of meniscus • Added: (documented with a normal erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) and C-reactive protein (CRP), or significant improvement in these markers and a clear statement by the treating surgeon that infection has been adequately treated) • Changed: The patient should be off of antibiotics at the time of pre-operative testing and aspiration, as well as re-implantation • Removed Bonutti reference • Added Molloy reference on BMI for UKA
April 2020	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Removed CPT code 27488 from Revision Knee Arthroplasty
October 2019	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Updated/revised in-text references and bibliography • Added new a statement that if “bone on bone” arthritis is documented, conservative treatment requirements are not necessary for approval. • Deleted age limit for UKA (previous age criteria: over 50) • Added:” No evidence of current, ongoing, or inadequately treated knee infection (ruled out by normal inflammatory markers (ESR and CRP)) • Removed Outerbridge Classification (this is an arthroscopic grading system) • Removed Non-covered section
August 2019	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Added CPT code 27438 for Partial-Unicompartmental Knee Arthroplasty (UKA)
November 2018	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Total Knee Arthroplasty (TKA): TKA may be considered medically necessary when the following criteria are met: Added ‘post-traumatic arthritis (i.e., previous proximal tibia or distal femur fracture causing subsequent arthritis)’ to separate the general fracture term into old post traumatic arthritis versus new fracture • Additional Information: Added: 1- ‘If medical records indicate that possibly either a TKA or a UKA will be performed, based on the findings at the time of surgery, separate requests are to be submitted’; 2- ‘All requests for TKA, UKA, or revision TKA are to have documentation in the medical record pertaining to the potential risks, benefits, and complications specific to these procedures’ • Absolute Contraindication: changed ‘Any injection into the joint within 3 months of surgery’ to ‘Any corticosteroid injection into the joint within 3 months of surgery’ • Patellofemoral UKA/PKA: Modified language to include: ‘<i>Standing</i>, AP or PA weight-bearing x-rays (this used to say

	<p>'radiographs') demonstrate only unicompartamental disease of the patellofemoral joint, described as Kellgren-Lawrence grade 3 or grade 4 degeneration (<i>joint space narrowing, osteophyte formation, sclerosis and/or subchondral cystic changes</i>), with no evidence of medial or lateral <i>compartment</i> arthritis'</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Revision TKA: Added content '... if ESR and CRP are elevated, <i>'further evaluation is required, including an aspiration with synovial fluid WBC count, gram stain and cultures, or an intraoperative frozen biopsy'</i> • Revision TKA criteria: Added a physical exam to the criteria, see italicized 'Symptomatic UKA/PKA or TKA as evidenced by persistent, severe, disabling pain, <i>complaints of instability, mechanical abnormalities ("clunking" or audible crepitus)</i>'; also added clarification '<i>Cases that do not demonstrate any radiographic abnormalities yet show findings of gross instability on physical examination will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis'</i> • Added and updated references
--	---

REFERENCES

- Alizai H, Roemer F, Hayashi D, et al. An update on risk factors for cartilage loss in knee osteoarthritis assessed using MRI-based semiquantitative grading methods. *Eur Radiol*. 2015; 25(3):883-93.
- American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons (AAOS). Guideline on the Treatment of Osteoarthritis (OA) of the Knee. <http://www.aaos.org/research/guidelines/GuidelineOAKnee.asp>. 2012. Accessed September 26, 2012.
- Annaswamy TM, Gosai EV, Jevsevar DS, et al. The role of intra-articular hyaluronic acid in symptomatic osteoarthritis of the knee. *PM R*. 2015; 7(9):995-1001.
- Banerjee S, Cherian JJ, Elmallah RK, et al. Robotic-assisted knee arthroplasty. *Expert Rev Med Devices*. 2015; 12(6):727-735.
- Becker R, Argeson JN. Unicondylar knee arthroplasty: What's new? *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc*. 2013; 21:2419-20.
- Bedard NA, Pugely AJ, Elkins JM, et al. The John N. Insall Award: Do intraarticular injections increase the risk of infection after TKA? *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. 2017 Jan; 475(1):45-52.
- Belmont PJ, Goodman GP, Waterman BR, et al. Thirty day postoperative complications and mortality following total knee arthroplasty incidence and risk factors among a national sample of 15,321 patients. *J Bone Joint Surg*. 2014; 96(1):20-26.
- Bolognesi MP, Greiner MA, Attarian DE, et al. Unicompartmental knee arthroplasty and total knee arthroplasty among Medicare beneficiaries, 2000 to 2009. *J Bone Joint Surg*. 2013; 95(22):e174-1.
- Cancienne JM, Werner BC, Luetkemeyer LM, et al. Does timing of previous intra-articular steroid injection affect the post-operative rate of infection in total knee arthroplasty? *J Arthroplasty*. 2015; 30(11):1879-1882.
- Clement ND. Patient factors that influence the outcome of total knee replacement: A critical review of the literature. *OA Orthopaedics*. 2013; 1:11.
- Cram P, Lu X, Kates XL, et al. Total knee arthroplasty volume, utilization, and outcomes among Medicare beneficiaries, 1991-2010. *JAMA*. 2012; 308(12):1227-1236.

D'Apuzzo MR, Novicoff WM, Browne JA. The John Insall Award: Morbid obesity independently impacts complications, mortality, and resource use after TKA. *Clin Orthop Relat Re*. 2014; 473(1): 1-7.

Della Valle C, Parvizi J, Bauer TW, et al. American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons. Diagnosis of periprosthetic joint infections of the hip and knee. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg*. 2010; 18:760-70.

Dudhniwala AG, Rath NK, Joshy S, et al. Early failure with the Journey Deuce bicompartamental knee arthroplasty. *Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol*. 2016; 5:1-5.

Fernandes L, Hagen KB, Bijlsma JW, et al. EULAR recommendations for the non-pharmacological core management of hip and knee osteoarthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis*. 2013; 72(7):1125-1135.

Gossec L, Paternotte S, Maillefert JF, et al. The role of pain and functional impairment in the decision to recommend total joint replacement in hip and knee osteoarthritis: An international cross-sectional study of 1909 patients. Report of the OARSI-OMERACT Task Force on total joint replacement. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. 2011; 1(2):147-154.

Gossec L, Paternotte S, Bingham CO, et al. OARSI/OMERACT initiative to define states of severity and indication for joint replacement in hip and knee osteoarthritis. An OMERACT 10 Special Interest Group. *J Rheumatol*. 2011; 38(8):1765-1769.

Goyal N, Austin M. Principles and techniques of total knee revision surgery. *Orthopaedic Knowledge Online Journal*. 2012; 10(6).

Gu A, Fassihi SC, Wessel LE, et al. Comparison of revision risk based on timing of knee arthroscopy prior to total knee arthroplasty. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. 2021 Apr 21;103(8):660-7.

Gu A, Malahias MA, Cohen JS, et al. Prior knee arthroscopy is associated with increased risk of revision after total knee arthroplasty. *The Journal of Arthroplasty*. 2020 Jan 1;35(1):100-4.

Hamilton TW, Pistritto C, Jenkins C, et al. Unicompartmental knee replacement: Does the macroscopic status of the anterior cruciate ligament affect outcome? *Knee*. 2016; 23(3):506-10.

Hansen DC, Kusuma SK, Palmer RM, et al. Robotic guidance does not improve component position or short-term outcome in medial unicompartmental knee arthroplasty. *J Arthroplasty*. 2014; 29(9):1784-1789.

Hochberg MC, Altman RD, April KT, et al. American College of Rheumatology 2012 recommendations for the use of nonpharmacologic and pharmacologic therapies in osteoarthritis of the hand, hip, and knee. *Arthritis Care Res*. 2012; 64(4):465-474.

Hoorntje A, Witjes S, Koenraadt KLM, et al. More severe preoperative Kellgren-Lawrence Grades of knee osteoarthritis were partially associated with better postoperative patient-reported outcomes in TKA patients. *J Knee Surg*. 2018 Feb 28. Epub ahead of print.

~~Jevsevar, DS. Treatment of osteoarthritis of the knee: Evidence-based guideline. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg*. 2013; 21(9):571-576.~~

~~Johnson AJ, Costa CR, Mont MA. Do we need gender-specific total joint arthroplasty? *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. 2011; 469(7):1852-1858.~~

~~Joseph GB, McCulloch CE, Nevitt MC, et al. A reference database of cartilage 3 T MRI T2 values in knees without diagnostic evidence of cartilage degeneration: data from the osteoarthritis initiative. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. 2015; 23(6):897-905.~~

~~Kellgren JH, Lawrence JS. Radiological assessment of osteoarthrosis. *Ann Rheum Dis*. 1957; 16(4):494-502.~~

~~Kremers HM, Visscher SL, Kremers WK, et al. The Effect of Obesity on Direct Medical Costs in Total Knee Arthroplasty. *J Bone Joint Surg*. 2014; 96(9):718-724.~~

~~Lee JK, Choi CH. Total knee arthroplasty in rheumatoid arthritis. *Knee Surg Relat Res*. 2012; 24(1):1-6.~~

~~Losina E, Thornhill TS, Rome BN, et al. The dramatic increase in total knee replacement utilization rates in the United States cannot be fully explained by growth in population size and the obesity epidemic. *J Bone Joint Surg*. 2012; 94(3):201-207.~~

~~Ma J N, Li X L, Liang P, Yu S L. When can total knee arthroplasty be safely performed following prior arthroscopy? *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*. 2021 Jan 4; 22(1):2.~~

~~Marsh M, Souza RB, Wyman BT, et al. Differences between X-ray and MRI-determined knee cartilage thickness in weight-bearing and non-weight-bearing conditions. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage* 2013; Vol. 21, issue 12, 1876-1885.~~

~~McGrory BJ, Weber KL, Jevsevar DS, et al. Surgical management of osteoarthritis of the knee: Evidence-based guideline. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg*. 2016; 24(8):e87-e93.~~

~~Mofidi A, Plate JF, Lu B, et al. Assessment of accuracy of robotically assisted unicompartmental arthroplasty. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc*. 2014; 22(8):1-8.~~

~~Molloy J, Kennedy J, Jenkins C, et al. Obesity should not be considered a contraindication to medial Oxford UKA: Long-term patient-reported outcomes and implant survival in 1000 knees. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc*. 2019 Jul; 27(7):2259-2265.~~

~~Mosier BA, Arendt EA, Dahm DL, et al. Management of patellofemoral arthritis: From cartilage restoration to arthroplasty. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg*. 2016; 24(11):e163-e173.~~

~~Motififard M, Pesteh M, Etemadifar MR, et al. Causes and rates of revision total knee arthroplasty: Local results from Isfahan, Iran. *Adv Biomed Res*. 2015; 4:111. doi:10.4103/2277-9175.157829.~~

~~Nair RG, Tripathy G, and Deysine GR. Computer navigation systems in unicompartmental knee arthroplasty: a systematic review. *Am J Orthop*. 2014; 43(6):256-261.~~

~~Nieuwenhuijse MJ, Nelissen RG, Schoones JW, et al. Appraisal of evidence base for introduction of new implants in hip and knee replacement: A systematic review of five widely used device technologies. *BMJ*. 2014; 349:g5133.~~

~~Ng VV, Lustenberger D, Hoang KY, et al. Preoperative risk stratification and risk reduction for total joint reconstruction. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. 2013; 95(4):e19.~~

~~Ong KL, Anderson AF, Niazi F, et al. Hyaluronic acid injections in Medicare knee osteoarthritis patients are associated with longer time to knee arthroplasty. *J Arthroplasty*. 2016; 31(8):1667-73.~~

~~Paratte S, Argenson JN, Pearce O, et al. Medial unicompartmental knee replacement in the under-50s. *J Bone Joint Surg Br*. 2009; 91(3):351-356.~~

~~Parvizi J, Della Valle CJ. AAOS Clinical Practice Guideline: diagnosis and treatment of periprosthetic joint infections of the hip and knee. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg*. 2010; 18:771-772.~~

~~Parvizi J, Gehrke T, Chen AF. Proceedings of the international consensus on periprosthetic joint infection. *Bone Joint J*. 2013; 95:1450-1452.~~

~~Parvizi J, Tan TL, Goswami K, et al. The 2018 Definition of Periprosthetic Hip and Knee Infection: An Evidence-Based and Validated Criteria. *J Arthroplasty* 2018 vol 33(5); 1309-1314.~~

~~Piriou P, Mabit C, Bonnevalle P, et al. Are gender-specific femoral implants for total knee arthroplasty necessary? *J Arthroplasty*. 2014; 29(4):742-748.~~

~~Pritchett JW. Bicruciate-retaining total knee replacement provides satisfactory function and implant survivorship at 23 years. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. 2015; 473(7):2327-2333.~~

~~Purcell RL, Cody JP, Ammeen DJ, et al. Elimination of preoperative flexion contracture as a contraindication for unicompartmental knee arthroplasty. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg*. 2018 Apr 1; 26(7):e158-e163. doi: 10.5435/JAAOS-D-16-00802.~~

~~Richardson SS, Schairer WW, Sculco TP, et al. Comparison of Infection Risk with Corticosteroid or Hyaluronic Acid Injection Prior to Total Knee Arthroplasty. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. 2019 Jan 16; 101(2):112-8.~~

~~Roecker Z, Quinlan ND, Browne JA, et al. Risk of Periprosthetic Infection Following Intra-Articular Corticosteroid Injections After Total Knee Arthroplasty. *J Arthroplasty*. 2020 Apr; 35(4):1090-1094.~~

~~Softness KA, Murray RS, Evans BG. Total knee arthroplasty and fractures of the tibial plateau. *World J Orthop*. 2017 Feb 18; 8(2):107-114. doi:10.5312/wjo.v8.i2.107.~~

~~Song EK, Mohite N, Lee SH, et al. Comparison of outcome and survival after unicompartmental knee arthroplasty between navigation and conventional techniques with an average 9-year follow-up. *J Arthroplasty*. 2016; 31(2):395-400.~~

~~Stambough JB, Curtin BM, Odum SM, et al. Does change in ESR and CRP guide the timing of two-stage arthroplasty reimplantation? *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. 2019; 477:364-371. doi: 10.1097/01.blo.0000533618.31937.45.~~

~~Stephens BF, Murphy GA, Mihalko WM. The effects of nutritional deficiencies, smoking, and systemic disease on orthopaedic outcomes. *J Bone Joint Surg*. 2013; 95(23):2152-2157.~~

~~Tang A, Almetwali O, Zak SG, et al; Do preoperative intra-articular corticosteroid and hyaluronic acid injections affect time to total joint arthroplasty? *J Clin Orthop Trauma* 2021; 23;16:49-57.~~

~~Thompson SA, Lisabaud B, Nellans KW, et al. Factors associated with poor outcomes following unicompartmental knee arthroplasty: Redefining the “classic” indications for surgery. *J Arthroplasty*. 2013; 28(9):1561-1564.~~

~~Thomsen MG, Husted H, Otte KS, et al. Indications for knee arthroplasty have remained consistent over time. *Dan Med J*. 2012; 59:A4492.~~

~~Ting N and Della Valle C. Diagnosis of Periprosthetic Joint Infection — An Algorithm-Based Approach. *J Arthroplasty*. 2017; 32(7):2047-2050.~~

~~Tinius M, Hepp P, Becker R. Combined unicompartmental knee arthroplasty and anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc*. 2012; 20(1):81-87.~~

~~Van Manen MD, Nace J, Mont MA. Management of primary knee osteoarthritis and indications for total knee arthroplasty for general practitioners. *J Am Osteopath Assoc*. 2012 Nov; 112:709-715. doi:10.7556/jaoa.2012.112.11.709.~~

~~Woehni A, Naziri Q, Costa C, et al. Osteonecrosis of the knee. *Orthop Knowledge Online J*. 2012; 10.~~

~~Weinstein AM, Rome BN, Reichmann WM, et al. Estimating the burden of total knee replacement in the United States. *J Bone Joint Surg*. 2013; 95(5):385-392.~~

Wright RW, MARS Group. Osteoarthritis classification scales: Interobserver reliability and arthroscopic correlation. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* 2014; 96(14):1145-1151.

~~Reviewed / Approved by NIA Clinical Guideline Committee~~

GENERAL INFORMATION

~~It is an expectation that all patients receive care/services from a licensed clinician. All appropriate supporting documentation, including recent pertinent office visit notes, laboratory data, and results of any special testing must be provided. If applicable: All prior relevant imaging results and the reason that alternative imaging cannot be performed must be included in the documentation submitted.~~

Disclaimer: Magellan Healthcare service authorization policies do not constitute medical advice and are not intended to govern or otherwise influence the practice of medicine. These policies are not meant to supplant your normal procedures, evaluation, diagnosis, treatment and/or care plans for your patients. Your professional judgement must be exercised and followed in all respects with regard to the treatment and care of your patients. These policies apply to all Magellan Healthcare subsidiaries including, but not limited to, National Imaging Associates ("Magellan"). The policies constitute only the reimbursement and coverage guidelines of Magellan. Coverage for services varies for individual members in accordance with the terms and conditions of applicable Certificates of Coverage, Summary Plan Descriptions, or contracts with governing regulatory agencies. Magellan reserves the right to review and update the guidelines at its sole discretion. Notice of such changes, if necessary, shall be provided in accordance with the terms and conditions of provider agreements and any applicable laws or regulations.

1. Lee JK, Choi CH. Total knee arthroplasty in rheumatoid arthritis. *Knee Surg Relat Res.* Mar 2012;24(1):1-6. doi:10.5792/ksrr.2012.24.1.1
2. Softness KA, Murray RS, Evans BG. Total knee arthroplasty and fractures of the tibial plateau. *World J Orthop.* Feb 18 2017;8(2):107-114. doi:10.5312/wjo.v8.i2.107
3. Woehnl A, Naziri Q, Costa C, Johnson AJ, Mont MA. Osteonecrosis of the knee. *Orthopaedic Knowledge Online J.* 2012;10(5)
4. Hoorntje A, Witjes S, Koenraadt KLM, Aarts R, Weert T, van Geenen RCI. More Severe Preoperative Kellgren-Lawrence Grades of Knee Osteoarthritis were Partially Associated with Better Postoperative Patient-Reported Outcomes in TKA Patients. *J Knee Surg.* Mar 2019;32(3):211-217. doi:10.1055/s-0038-1635114
5. Van Manen MD, Nace J, Mont MA. Management of primary knee osteoarthritis and indications for total knee arthroplasty for general practitioners. *J Am Osteopath Assoc.* Nov 2012;112(11):709-15. doi:10.7556/jaoa.2012.112.11.709
6. Felson DT, Naimark A, Anderson J, Kazis L, Castelli W, Meenan RF. The prevalence of knee osteoarthritis in the elderly. The Framingham Osteoarthritis Study. *Arthritis Rheum.* Aug 1987;30(8):914-8. doi:10.1002/art.1780300811
7. Hochberg MC, Altman RD, April KT, et al. American College of Rheumatology 2012 recommendations for the use of nonpharmacologic and pharmacologic therapies in osteoarthritis of the hand, hip, and knee. *Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken).* Apr 2012;64(4):465-74. doi:10.1002/acr.21596

8. American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons Management of Osteoarthritis of the Knee (Non-Arthroplasty) Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guideline. <https://www.aaos.org/oak3cpg> Published Aug 31, 2021 Accessed April 29, 2022.
9. Kellgren JH, Lawrence JS. Radiological assessment of osteo-arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis*. Dec 1957;16(4):494-502. doi:10.1136/ard.16.4.494
10. Marsh M, Souza RB, Wyman BT, et al. Differences between X-ray and MRI-determined knee cartilage thickness in weight-bearing and non-weight-bearing conditions. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. Dec 2013;21(12):1876-85. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2013.09.006
11. Bedard NA, Pugely AJ, Elkins JM, et al. The John N. Insall Award: Do Intraarticular Injections Increase the Risk of Infection After TKA? *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. Jan 2017;475(1):45-52. doi:10.1007/s11999-016-4757-8
12. Cancienne JM, Werner BC, Luetkemeyer LM, Browne JA. Does Timing of Previous Intra-Articular Steroid Injection Affect the Post-Operative Rate of Infection in Total Knee Arthroplasty? *J Arthroplasty*. Nov 2015;30(11):1879-82. doi:10.1016/j.arth.2015.05.027
13. Richardson SS, Schairer WW, Sculco TP, Sculco PK. Comparison of Infection Risk with Corticosteroid or Hyaluronic Acid Injection Prior to Total Knee Arthroplasty. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. Jan 16 2019;101(2):112-118. doi:10.2106/jbjs.18.00454
14. Tang A, Almetwali O, Zak SG, Bernstein JA, Schwarzkopf R, Aggarwal VK. Do preoperative intra-articular corticosteroid and hyaluronic acid injections affect time to total joint arthroplasty? *J Clin Orthop Trauma*. May 2021;16:49-57. doi:10.1016/j.jcot.2020.12.016
15. Lai Q, Cai K, Lin T, Zhou C, Chen Z, Zhang Q. Prior Intra-articular Corticosteroid Injection Within 3 Months May Increase the Risk of Deep Infection in Subsequent Joint Arthroplasty: A Meta-analysis. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. May 1 2022;480(5):971-979. doi:10.1097/corr.0000000000002055
16. Goyal T, Tripathy SK, Schuh A, Paul S. Total knee arthroplasty after a prior knee arthroscopy has higher complication rates: a systematic review. *Arch Orthop Trauma Surg*. Sep 20 2021;doi:10.1007/s00402-021-04175-6
17. Gu A, Fassihi SC, Wessel LE, et al. Comparison of Revision Risk Based on Timing of Knee Arthroscopy Prior to Total Knee Arthroplasty. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. Apr 21 2021;103(8):660-667. doi:10.2106/jbjs.20.00218
18. Gu A, Malahias MA, Cohen JS, et al. Prior Knee Arthroscopy Is Associated With Increased Risk of Revision After Total Knee Arthroplasty. *J Arthroplasty*. Jan 2020;35(1):100-104. doi:10.1016/j.arth.2019.08.043
19. Liu Q, Tian Z, Pian K, et al. The influence of prior arthroscopy on outcomes of primary total lower extremity arthroplasty: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Surg*. Feb 2022;98:106218. doi:10.1016/j.ijsu.2021.106218
20. Werner BC, Burrus MT, Novicoff WM, Browne JA. Total Knee Arthroplasty Within Six Months After Knee Arthroscopy Is Associated With Increased Postoperative Complications. *J Arthroplasty*. Aug 2015;30(8):1313-6. doi:10.1016/j.arth.2015.02.023
21. D'Apuzzo MR, Novicoff WM, Browne JA. The John Insall Award: Morbid obesity independently impacts complications, mortality, and resource use after TKA. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. Jan 2015;473(1):57-63. doi:10.1007/s11999-014-3668-9
22. Clement N. Patient factors that influence the outcome of total knee replacement: a critical review of the literature. *OA Orthopaedics*. 2013 Aug 01 2013;1(2):11.

23. Tinus M, Hepp P, Becker R. Combined unicompartmental knee arthroplasty and anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc.* Jan 2012;20(1):81-7. doi:10.1007/s00167-011-1528-7
24. Purcell RL, Cody JP, Ammeen DJ, Goyal N, Engh GA. Elimination of Preoperative Flexion Contracture as a Contraindication for Unicompartmental Knee Arthroplasty. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg.* Apr 1 2018;26(7):e158-e163. doi:10.5435/jaaos-d-16-00802
25. Becker R, Argenson JN. Unicondylar knee arthroplasty: what's new? *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc.* Nov 2013;21(11):2419-20. doi:10.1007/s00167-013-2672-z
26. Della Valle C, Parvizi J, Bauer TW, et al. Diagnosis of periprosthetic joint infections of the hip and knee. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg.* Dec 2010;18(12):760-70. doi:10.5435/00124635-201012000-00006
27. Ting NT, Della Valle CJ. Diagnosis of Periprosthetic Joint Infection-An Algorithm-Based Approach. *J Arthroplasty.* Jul 2017;32(7):2047-2050. doi:10.1016/j.arth.2017.02.070
28. Lee HD, Prashant K, Shon WY. Management of Periprosthetic Hip Joint Infection. *Hip Pelvis.* Jun 2015;27(2):63-71. doi:10.5371/hp.2015.27.2.63
29. Goyal N, Austin M. Principles and techniques of total knee revision surgery. *Orthopaedic Knowledge Online J.* 2012;10(6)
30. Motififard M, Pesteh M, Etemadifar MR, Shirazinejad S. Causes and rates of revision total knee arthroplasty: Local results from Isfahan, Iran. *Adv Biomed Res.* 2015;4:111. doi:10.4103/2277-9175.157829
31. Parvizi J, Gehrke T, Chen AF. Proceedings of the International Consensus on Periprosthetic Joint Infection. *Bone Joint J.* Nov 2013;95-b(11):1450-2. doi:10.1302/0301-620x.95b11.33135
32. Parvizi J, Della Valle CJ. AAOS Clinical Practice Guideline: diagnosis and treatment of periprosthetic joint infections of the hip and knee. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg.* Dec 2010;18(12):771-2. doi:10.5435/00124635-201012000-00007
33. Parvizi J, Tan TL, Goswami K, et al. The 2018 Definition of Periprosthetic Hip and Knee Infection: An Evidence-Based and Validated Criteria. *J Arthroplasty.* May 2018;33(5):1309-1314.e2. doi:10.1016/j.arth.2018.02.078

ADDITIONAL RESOURCES

1. Alizai H, Roemer FW, Hayashi D, Crema MD, Felson DT, Guermazi A. An update on risk factors for cartilage loss in knee osteoarthritis assessed using MRI-based semiquantitative grading methods. *Eur Radiol.* Mar 2015;25(3):883-93. doi:10.1007/s00330-014-3464-7
2. Annaswamy TM, Gosai EV, Jevsevar DS, Singh JR. The Role of Intra-articular Hyaluronic Acid in Symptomatic Osteoarthritis of the Knee. *Pm r.* Sep 2015;7(9):995-1001. doi:10.1016/j.pmrj.2015.08.002
3. Banerjee S, Cherian JJ, Elmallah RK, Jauregui JJ, Pierce TP, Mont MA. Robotic-assisted knee arthroplasty. *Expert Rev Med Devices.* 2015;12(6):727-35. doi:10.1586/17434440.2015.1086264
4. Belmont PJ, Jr., Goodman GP, Waterman BR, Bader JO, Schoenfeld AJ. Thirty-day postoperative complications and mortality following total knee arthroplasty: incidence and risk factors among a national sample of 15,321 patients. *J Bone Joint Surg Am.* Jan 1 2014;96(1):20-6. doi:10.2106/jbjs.M.00018

5. [Bhattacharjee S, Wallace S, Luu HH, Shi LL, Lee MJ, Chen AF. Do We Need to Wait 3 Months After Corticosteroid Injections to Reduce the Risk of Infection After Total Knee Arthroplasty? *J Am Acad Orthop Surg*. Jul 15 2021;29\(14\):e714-e721. doi:10.5435/jaaos-d-20-00850](#)
6. [Bolognesi MP, Greiner MA, Attarian DE, et al. Unicompartamental knee arthroplasty and total knee arthroplasty among Medicare beneficiaries, 2000 to 2009. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. Nov 20 2013;95\(22\):e174. doi:10.2106/jbjs.L.00652](#)
7. [Cram P, Lu X, Kates SL, Singh JA, Li Y, Wolf BR. Total knee arthroplasty volume, utilization, and outcomes among Medicare beneficiaries, 1991-2010. *Jama*. Sep 26 2012;308\(12\):1227-36. doi:10.1001/2012.jama.11153](#)
8. [Dudhniwala AG, Rath NK, Joshy S, Forster MC, White SP. Early failure with the Journey-Deuce bicompartmental knee arthroplasty. *Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol*. Jul 2016;26\(5\):517-21. doi:10.1007/s00590-016-1760-4](#)
9. [Fernandes L, Hagen KB, Bijlsma JW, et al. EULAR recommendations for the non-pharmacological core management of hip and knee osteoarthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis*. Jul 2013;72\(7\):1125-35. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2012-202745](#)
10. [Gossec L, Paternotte S, Maillefert JF, et al. The role of pain and functional impairment in the decision to recommend total joint replacement in hip and knee osteoarthritis: an international cross-sectional study of 1909 patients. Report of the OARSI-OMERACT Task Force on total joint replacement. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. Feb 2011;19\(2\):147-54. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2010.10.025](#)
11. [Gossec L, Paternotte S, Bingham CO, 3rd, et al. OARSI/OMERACT initiative to define states of severity and indication for joint replacement in hip and knee osteoarthritis. An OMERACT 10 Special Interest Group. *J Rheumatol*. Aug 2011;38\(8\):1765-9. doi:10.3899/jrheum.110403](#)
12. [Gu A, Fassihi SC, Wessel LE, et al. Comparison of Revision Risk Based on Timing of Knee Arthroscopy Prior to Total Knee Arthroplasty. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. Apr 21 2021;103\(8\):660-667. doi:10.2106/jbjs.20.00218](#)
13. [Gu A, Malahias MA, Cohen JS, et al. Prior Knee Arthroscopy Is Associated With Increased Risk of Revision After Total Knee Arthroplasty. *J Arthroplasty*. Jan 2020;35\(1\):100-104. doi:10.1016/j.arth.2019.08.043](#)
14. [Hamilton TW, Pistritto C, Jenkins C, et al. Unicompartamental knee replacement: Does the macroscopic status of the anterior cruciate ligament affect outcome? *Knee*. Jun 2016;23\(3\):506-10. doi:10.1016/j.knee.2016.01.013](#)
15. [Hansen DC, Kusuma SK, Palmer RM, Harris KB. Robotic guidance does not improve component position or short-term outcome in medial unicompartamental knee arthroplasty. *J Arthroplasty*. Sep 2014;29\(9\):1784-9. doi:10.1016/j.arth.2014.04.012](#)
16. [Jevsevar DS. Treatment of osteoarthritis of the knee: evidence-based guideline, 2nd edition. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg*. Sep 2013;21\(9\):571-6. doi:10.5435/jaaos-21-09-571](#)
17. [Johnson AJ, Costa CR, Mont MA. Do we need gender-specific total joint arthroplasty? *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. Jul 2011;469\(7\):1852-8. doi:10.1007/s11999-011-1769-2](#)
18. [Joseph GB, McCulloch CE, Nevitt MC, et al. A reference database of cartilage 3 T MRI T2 values in knees without diagnostic evidence of cartilage degeneration: data from the osteoarthritis initiative. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. Jun 2015;23\(6\):897-905. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2015.02.006](#)

19. Kokubun BA, Manista GC, Courtney PM, Kearns SM, Levine BR. Intra-Articular Knee Injections Before Total Knee Arthroplasty: Outcomes and Complication Rates. *J Arthroplasty*. Jun 2017;32(6):1798-1802. doi:10.1016/j.arth.2017.01.041
20. Kremers HM, Visscher SL, Kremers WK, Naessens JM, Lewallen DG. The effect of obesity on direct medical costs in total knee arthroplasty. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. May 7 2014;96(9):718-24. doi:10.2106/jbjs.M.00819
21. Losina E, Thornhill TS, Rome BN, Wright J, Katz JN. The dramatic increase in total knee replacement utilization rates in the United States cannot be fully explained by growth in population size and the obesity epidemic. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. Feb 1 2012;94(3):201-7. doi:10.2106/jbjs.J.01958
22. Ma JN, Li XL, Liang P, Yu SL. When can total knee arthroplasty be safely performed following prior arthroscopy? *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*. Jan 4 2021;22(1):2. doi:10.1186/s12891-020-03859-1
23. McGrory BJ, Weber KL, Jevsevar DS, Sevarino K. Surgical Management of Osteoarthritis of the Knee: Evidence-based Guideline. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg*. Aug 2016;24(8):e87-93. doi:10.5435/jaaos-d-16-00159
24. Mofidi A, Plate JF, Lu B, et al. Assessment of accuracy of robotically assisted unicompartmental arthroplasty. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc*. Aug 2014;22(8):1918-25. doi:10.1007/s00167-014-2969-6
25. Molloy J, Kennedy J, Jenkins C, Mellon S, Dodd C, Murray D. Obesity should not be considered a contraindication to medial Oxford UKA: long-term patient-reported outcomes and implant survival in 1000 knees. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc*. Jul 2019;27(7):2259-2265. doi:10.1007/s00167-018-5218-6
26. Mosier BA, Arendt EA, Dahm DL, Dejour D, Gomoll AH. Management of Patellofemoral Arthritis: From Cartilage Restoration to Arthroplasty. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg*. Nov 2016;24(11):e163-e173. doi:10.5435/jaaos-d-16-00009
27. Nair R, Tripathy G, Deysine GR. Computer navigation systems in unicompartmental knee arthroplasty: a systematic review. *Am J Orthop (Belle Mead NJ)*. Jun 2014;43(6):256-61.
28. Nieuwenhuijse MJ, Nelissen RG, Schoones JW, Sedrakyan A. Appraisal of evidence base for introduction of new implants in hip and knee replacement: a systematic review of five widely used device technologies. *Bmj*. Sep 9 2014;349:g5133. doi:10.1136/bmj.g5133
29. Ng VY, Lustenberger D, Hoang K, et al. Preoperative risk stratification and risk reduction for total joint reconstruction: AAOS exhibit selection. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. Feb 20 2013;95(4):e191-15. doi:10.2106/jbjs.L.00603
30. Ong KL, Anderson AF, Niazi F, Fierlinger AL, Kurtz SM, Altman RD. Hyaluronic Acid Injections in Medicare Knee Osteoarthritis Patients Are Associated With Longer Time to Knee Arthroplasty. *J Arthroplasty*. Aug 2016;31(8):1667-73. doi:10.1016/j.arth.2016.01.038
31. Parratte S, Argenson JN, Pearce O, Pauly V, Auquier P, Aubaniac JM. Medial unicompartmental knee replacement in the under-50s. *J Bone Joint Surg Br*. Mar 2009;91(3):351-6. doi:10.1302/0301-620x.91b3.21588
32. Piriou P, Mabit C, Bonneville P, Peronne E, Versier G. Are gender-specific femoral implants for total knee arthroplasty necessary? *J Arthroplasty*. Apr 2014;29(4):742-8. doi:10.1016/j.arth.2013.09.013

33. Pritchett JW. Bicruciate-retaining Total Knee Replacement Provides Satisfactory Function and Implant Survivorship at 23 Years. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. Jul 2015;473(7):2327-33. doi:10.1007/s11999-015-4219-8
34. Rhode DT, Siegel MA, Volchenko E, et al. Do Intra-articular Corticosteroid Injections Prior to Total Knee Arthroplasty Increase Postoperative Complication Rates: A Retrospective Review. *J Knee Surg*. Jun 29 2021;doi:10.1055/s-0041-1731327
35. Roecker Z, Quinlan ND, Browne JA, Werner BC. Risk of Periprosthetic Infection Following Intra-Articular Corticosteroid Injections After Total Knee Arthroplasty. *J Arthroplasty*. Apr 2020;35(4):1090-1094. doi:10.1016/j.arth.2019.11.017
36. Song EK, N M, Lee SH, Na BR, Seon JK. Comparison of Outcome and Survival After Unicompartamental Knee Arthroplasty Between Navigation and Conventional Techniques With an Average 9-Year Follow-Up. *J Arthroplasty*. Feb 2016;31(2):395-400. doi:10.1016/j.arth.2015.09.012
37. Stambough JB, Curtin BM, Odum SM, Cross MB, Martin JR, Fehring TK. Does Change in ESR and CRP Guide the Timing of Two-stage Arthroplasty Reimplantation? *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. Feb 2019;477(2):364-371. doi:10.1097/01.blo.0000533618.31937.45
38. Stephens BF, Murphy A, Mihalko WM. The effects of nutritional deficiencies, smoking, and systemic disease on orthopaedic outcomes. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. Dec 4 2013;95(23):2152-7. doi:10.2106/00004623-201312040-00010
39. Thompson SA, Liabaud B, Nellans KW, Geller JA. Factors associated with poor outcomes following unicompartamental knee arthroplasty: redefining the "classic" indications for surgery. *J Arthroplasty*. Oct 2013;28(9):1561-4. doi:10.1016/j.arth.2013.02.034
40. Thomsen MG, Husted H, Otte KS, Orsnes T, Troelsen A. Indications for knee arthroplasty have remained consistent over time. *Dan Med J*. Aug 2012;59(8):A4492.
41. Weinstein AM, Rome BN, Reichmann WM, et al. Estimating the burden of total knee replacement in the United States. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. Mar 6 2013;95(5):385-92. doi:10.2106/jbjs.L.00206
42. Wright RW. Osteoarthritis Classification Scales: Interobserver Reliability and Arthroscopic Correlation. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. Jul 16 2014;96(14):1145-1151. doi:10.2106/jbjs.M.00929
1. Alizai H, Roemer FW, Hayashi D, Crema MD, Felson DT, Guermazi A. An update on risk factors for cartilage loss in knee osteoarthritis assessed using MRI-based semiquantitative grading methods. *Eur Radiol*. Mar 2015;25(3):883-93. doi:10.1007/s00330-014-3464-7
2. Annaswamy TM, Gosai EV, Jevsevar DS, Singh JR. The Role of Intra-articular Hyaluronic Acid in Symptomatic Osteoarthritis of the Knee. *PM R*. Sep 2015;7(9):995-1001. doi:10.1016/j.pmrj.2015.08.002
3. Banerjee S, Cherian JJ, Elmallah RK, Jauregui JJ, Pierce TP, Mont MA. Robotic assisted knee arthroplasty. *Expert Rev Med Devices*. 2015;12(6):727-35. doi:10.1586/17434440.2015.1086264
4. Belmont PJ, Jr., Goodman GP, Waterman BR, Bader JO, Schoenfeld AJ. Thirty-day postoperative complications and mortality following total knee arthroplasty: incidence and risk factors among a national sample of 15,321 patients. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. Jan 1 2014;96(1):20-6. doi:10.2106/jbjs.M.00018

Bhattacharjee S, Wallace S, Luu HH, Shi LL, Lee MJ, Chen AF. Do We Need to Wait 3 Months After Corticosteroid Injections to Reduce the Risk of Infection After Total Knee Arthroplasty?. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg*. 2021;29(14):e714-e721. Doi:10.5435/JAAOS-D-20-00850

5. Bolognesi MP, Greiner MA, Attarian DE, et al. Unicompartmental knee arthroplasty and total knee arthroplasty among Medicare beneficiaries, 2000 to 2009. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. Nov 20 2013;95(22):e174. doi:10.2106/jbjs.L.00652

6. Cram P, Lu X, Kates SL, Singh JA, Li Y, Wolf BR. Total knee arthroplasty volume, utilization, and outcomes among Medicare beneficiaries, 1991–2010. *JAMA*. Sep 26 2012;308(12):1227–36. doi:10.1001/2012.jama.11153

7. Dudhniwala AG, Rath NK, Joshy S, Forster MC, White SP. Early failure with the Journey Deuce bicompartamental knee arthroplasty. *Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol*. Jul 2016;26(5):517–21. doi:10.1007/s00590-016-1760-4

8. Fernandes L, Hagen KB, Bijlsma JW, et al. EULAR recommendations for the non-pharmacological core management of hip and knee osteoarthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis*. Jul 2013;72(7):1125–35. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2012-202745

9. Gossec L, Paternotte S, Maillefert JF, et al. The role of pain and functional impairment in the decision to recommend total joint replacement in hip and knee osteoarthritis: an international cross-sectional study of 1909 patients. Report of the OARSI-OMERACT Task Force on total joint replacement. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. Feb 2011;19(2):147–54. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2010.10.025

10. Gossec L, Paternotte S, Bingham CO, 3rd, et al. OARSI/OMERACT initiative to define states of severity and indication for joint replacement in hip and knee osteoarthritis. An OMERACT 10 Special Interest Group. *J Rheumatol*. Aug 2011;38(8):1765–9. doi:10.3899/jrheum.110403

11. Gu A, Fassihi SC, Wessel LE, et al. Comparison of Revision Risk Based on Timing of Knee Arthroscopy Prior to Total Knee Arthroplasty. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. Apr 21 2021;103(8):660–667. doi:10.2106/jbjs.20.00218

12. Gu A, Malahias MA, Cohen JS, et al. Prior Knee Arthroscopy Is Associated With Increased Risk of Revision After Total Knee Arthroplasty. *J Arthroplasty*. Jan 2020;35(1):100–104. doi:10.1016/j.arth.2019.08.043

13. Hamilton TW, Pistritto C, Jenkins C, et al. Unicompartmental knee replacement: Does the macroscopic status of the anterior cruciate ligament affect outcome? *Knee*. Jun 2016;23(3):506–10. doi:10.1016/j.knee.2016.01.013

14. Hansen DC, Kusuma SK, Palmer RM, Harris KB. Robotic guidance does not improve component position or short term outcome in medial unicompartmental knee arthroplasty. *J Arthroplasty*. Sep 2014;29(9):1784–9. doi:10.1016/j.arth.2014.04.012

15. Jevsevar DS. Treatment of osteoarthritis of the knee: evidence-based guideline, 2nd edition. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg*. Sep 2013;21(9):571–6. doi:10.5435/jaaos-21-09-571

16. Johnson AJ, Costa CR, Mont MA. Do we need gender-specific total joint arthroplasty? *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. Jul 2011;469(7):1852–8. doi:10.1007/s11999-011-1769-2

17. Joseph GB, McCulloch CE, Nevitt MC, et al. A reference database of cartilage 3 T MRI T2 values in knees without diagnostic evidence of cartilage degeneration: data from the osteoarthritis initiative. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. Jun 2015;23(6):897–905. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2015.02.006

Kokubun BA, Manista GC, Courtney PM, Kearns SM, Levine BR. Intra-Articular Knee Injections Before Total Knee Arthroplasty: Outcomes and Complication Rates. *J Arthroplasty*. 2017;32(6):1798-1802. Doi:10.1016/j.arth.2017.01.041

18. Kremers HM, Visscher SL, Kremers WK, Naessens JM, Lewallen DG. The effect of obesity on direct medical costs in total knee arthroplasty. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. May 7 2014;96(9):718-24. doi:10.2106/jbjs.M.00819

19. Losina E, Thornhill TS, Rome BN, Wright J, Katz JN. The dramatic increase in total knee replacement utilization rates in the United States cannot be fully explained by growth in population size and the obesity epidemic. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. Feb 1 2012;94(3):201-7. doi:10.2106/jbjs.J.01958

20. Ma JN, Li XL, Liang P, Yu SL. When can total knee arthroplasty be safely performed following prior arthroscopy? *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*. Jan 4 2021;22(1):2. doi:10.1186/s12891-020-03859-1

21. McGrory BJ, Weber KL, Jevsevar DS, Sevarino K. Surgical Management of Osteoarthritis of the Knee: Evidence-based Guideline. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg*. Aug 2016;24(8):e87-93. doi:10.5435/jaaos-d-16-00159

22. Mofidi A, Plate JF, Lu B, et al. Assessment of accuracy of robotically assisted unicompartmental arthroplasty. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc*. Aug 2014;22(8):1918-25. doi:10.1007/s00167-014-2969-6

23. Molloy J, Kennedy J, Jenkins C, Mellon S, Dodd C, Murray D. Obesity should not be considered a contraindication to medial Oxford UKA: long term patient reported outcomes and implant survival in 1000 knees. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc*. Jul 2019;27(7):2259-2265. doi:10.1007/s00167-018-5218-6

24. Mosier BA, Arendt EA, Dahm DL, Dejour D, Gomoll AH. Management of Patellofemoral Arthritis: From Cartilage Restoration to Arthroplasty. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg*. Nov 2016;24(11):e163-e173. doi:10.5435/jaaos-d-16-00009

25. Nair R, Tripathy G, Deysine GR. Computer navigation systems in unicompartmental knee arthroplasty: a systematic review. *Am J Orthop (Belle Mead NJ)*. Jun 2014;43(6):256-61.

26. Nieuwenhuijse MJ, Nelissen RG, Schoones JW, Sedrakyan A. Appraisal of evidence base for introduction of new implants in hip and knee replacement: a systematic review of five widely used device technologies. *BMJ*. Sep 9 2014;349:g5133. doi:10.1136/bmj.g5133

27. Ng VY, Lustenberger D, Hoang K, et al. Preoperative risk stratification and risk reduction for total joint reconstruction: AAOS exhibit selection. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. Feb 20 2013;95(4):e191-15. doi:10.2106/jbjs.L.00603

28. Ong KL, Anderson AF, Niazi F, Fierlinger AL, Kurtz SM, Altman RD. Hyaluronic Acid Injections in Medicare Knee Osteoarthritis Patients Are Associated With Longer Time to Knee Arthroplasty. *J Arthroplasty*. Aug 2016;31(8):1667-73. doi:10.1016/j.arth.2016.01.038

29. Parratte S, Argenson JN, Pearce O, Pauly V, Auquier P, Aubaniac JM. Medial unicompartmental knee replacement in the under 50s. *J Bone Joint Surg Br*. Mar 2009;91(3):351-6. doi:10.1302/0301-620x.91b3.21588

30. Piriou P, Mabit C, Bonneville P, Peronne E, Versier G. Are gender-specific femoral implants for total knee arthroplasty necessary? *J Arthroplasty*. Apr 2014;29(4):742-8. doi:10.1016/j.arth.2013.09.013

31. Pritchett JW. Bicruciate-retaining Total Knee Replacement Provides Satisfactory Function and Implant Survivorship at 23 Years. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. Jul 2015;473(7):2327-33. doi:10.1007/s11999-015-4219-8

Rhode DT, Siegel MA, Volchenko E, et al. Do Intra-articular Corticosteroid Injections Prior to Total Knee Arthroplasty Increase Postoperative Complication Rates: A Retrospective Review [published online ahead of print, 2021 Jun 29]. *J Knee Surg*. 2021;10.1055/s-0041-1731327. Doi:10.1055/s-0041-1731327

32. Roecker Z, Quinlan ND, Browne JA, Werner BC. Risk of Periprosthetic Infection Following Intra-Articular Corticosteroid Injections After Total Knee Arthroplasty. *J Arthroplasty*. Apr 2020;35(4):1090-1094. doi:10.1016/j.arth.2019.11.017

33. Song EK, N M, Lee SH, Na BR, Seon JK. Comparison of Outcome and Survival After Unicompartmental Knee Arthroplasty Between Navigation and Conventional Techniques With an Average 9-Year Follow-Up. *J Arthroplasty*. Feb 2016;31(2):395-400. doi:10.1016/j.arth.2015.09.012

34. Stambough JB, Curtin BM, Odum SM, Cross MB, Martin JR, Fehring TK. Does Change in ESR and CRP Guide the Timing of Two-stage Arthroplasty Reimplantation? *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. Feb 2019;477(2):364-371. doi:10.1097/01.blo.0000533618.31937.45

35. Stephens BF, Murphy A, Mihalko WM. The effects of nutritional deficiencies, smoking, and systemic disease on orthopaedic outcomes. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. Dec 4 2013;95(23):2152-7. doi:10.2106/00004623-201312040-00010

36. Thompson SA, Liabaud B, Nellans KW, Geller JA. Factors associated with poor outcomes following unicompartmental knee arthroplasty: redefining the "classic" indications for surgery. *J Arthroplasty*. Oct 2013;28(9):1561-4. doi:10.1016/j.arth.2013.02.034

37. Thomsen MG, Husted H, Otte KS, Orsnes T, Troelsen A. Indications for knee arthroplasty have remained consistent over time. *Dan Med J*. Aug 2012;59(8):A4492.

38. Weinstein AM, Rome BN, Reichmann WM, et al. Estimating the burden of total knee replacement in the United States. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. Mar 6 2013;95(5):385-92. doi:10.2106/jbjs.L.00206

39. Wright RW. Osteoarthritis Classification Scales: Interobserver Reliability and Arthroscopic Correlation. *J Bone Joint Surg Am*. Jul 16 2014;96(14):1145-1151. doi:10.2106/jbjs.M.00929

Reviewed / Approved by NIA Clinical Guideline Committee

GENERAL INFORMATION

It is an expectation that all patients receive care/services from a licensed clinician. All appropriate supporting documentation, including recent pertinent office visit notes, laboratory data, and results of any special testing must be provided. If applicable: All prior relevant imaging results and the reason that alternative imaging cannot be performed must be included in the documentation submitted.

Disclaimer: Magellan Healthcare service authorization policies do not constitute medical advice and are not intended to govern or otherwise influence the practice of medicine. These policies are not meant to supplant your normal procedures, evaluation, diagnosis, treatment and/or care plans for your patients. Your professional judgement must be exercised and followed in all respects with regard to the treatment and care of your patients. These policies apply to all Magellan Healthcare subsidiaries including, but not limited to, National Imaging Associates ("Magellan"). The policies constitute only the reimbursement and coverage guidelines of Magellan. Coverage for services varies for individual members in accordance with the terms and conditions of applicable Certificates of Coverage, Summary Plan Descriptions, or contracts with governing regulatory agencies. Magellan reserves the right to review and update the guidelines at its sole discretion. Notice of such changes, if necessary, shall be provided in accordance with the terms and conditions of provider agreements and any applicable laws or regulations.